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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	FEODORA  MARTUSHEFF, 

          Employee, 

               Claimant,

          v. 

IMMEDIATE CARE, INC.,

          Employer,

          and 

COMMERCE AND INDUSTRY 

INS. CO.,

          Insurer,
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200505591
AWCB Decision No.  09-0045
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska 

on March 2, 2009


The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (Board) heard the employee’s workers’ compensation claim (WCC) on January 21, 2009, in Anchorage, Alaska.  Feodora Martusheff, the employee, appeared on her own behalf (claimant).  Attorney Krista Schwarting represented the employer and insurer (employer).  At the conclusion of the hearing, the record remained open for further deliberations.  It closed on January 28, 2009, after deliberations were completed.


ISSUES
1. Shall we admit into evidence the September 30, 2008 to October 2, 2008 medical records of Dr. Lowe, pursuant to 8 AAC 45.052(c)(3)?

2. Pursuant to AS 23.30.001 and 8 AAC 45.052, is the employer entitled to cross examine Dr. Lowe at the claimant’s expense?

3. Is the claimant entitled to medical benefits pursuant to AS 23.30.095?

4. Did the employer unfairly and frivolously controvert benefits?
5. Is the claimant entitled to interest and a penalty on late paid benefits, pursuant to 
AS 23.30.155(b), AS 23.30.155(p), AS 23.30.155(e), and 8 AAC 45.142?

6. Is the claimant entitled to reemployment benefits pursuant to AS 23.30.041(k)?

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

I. MEDICAL HISTORY

The claimant injured her back, legs, and shoulders while working for the employer as a personal care attendant.
  Her work required her to lift the client for whom she was caring throughout the day.
  The date of injury is reported as April 5, 2005.

The claimant first sought medical treatment from Daniel Steward, M.D., at AIC Urgent Care Clinic (AIC) on April 9, 2005.
  She reported an onset of low back pain, radiating into the legs.
  The physical examination was normal, and Dr. Steward assessed low back pain probably muscular in origin, and prescribed the medications Tylenol, Flexeril, and Norco for her symptoms.
  The claimant was next seen by Jill Valerius, M.D., to whom she reported constant pain in her lower back, extending down into the buttocks and the backs of her legs, as well as neck pain and bilateral arm pain.
  The claimant told Dr. Valerius about her work as a personal care attendant (PCA) for a client in a coma, which required her to lift and carry the client frequently.
  On physical examination, Dr. Valerius noted the claimant experienced slight discomfort at the end range of flexion and extension of the neck, but otherwise there were no abnormal findings.
  Dr. Valerius diagnosed back and neck pain, prescribed physical therapy and continued the medications Flexeril and Lortab (Norco).
  She also restricted the claimant to light duty work for two weeks.

The claimant started physical therapy on April 20, 2005, and her prognosis was considered to be good.
  She was seen again by Dr. Valerius on May 4, 2005, and Dr. Valerius noted the claimant was doing much better, and was only taking her Flexeril as needed, but had not required her narcotic pain medication Lortab.
  On physical examination, the only abnormality noted was tenderness in the paraspinal muscles of the neck and limited flexion and extension, as well as limited forward flexion and extension of the lower back.
  Dr. Valerius diagnosed neck and back pain
 and restricted her from work until May 19, 2005.
    The claimant continued her physical therapy.

On May 19, 2005, the claimant saw Dr. Valerius for follow-up,
  and reported she was not doing as well, and her back pain had increased so that she had to take her pain medication.
  She also reported having many more headaches.
  Her physical examination was unchanged from the prior one.
  Dr. Valerius prescribed additional physical therapy.
  In addition, Dr. Valerius opined the claimant might not be able to return to work as a PCA due to back pain.
  The claimant continued her physical therapy, although her progress was slow despite good attendance.
  PT Burlingame noted the claimant complained of constant lumbar pain at 5 over 10 on a 0-10 pain scale, as well as cervical pain at 7 over 10.
  He also noted the claimant’s complaints of tinnitus, nausea, light-headedness and headaches, apparently provoked by combinations of cervical extension and retraction.
  He also indicated the claimant complained of dizziness and discomfort with extension.
  PT Burlingame opined the claimant’s prognosis was guarded.

When the claimant saw Dr. Valerius on June 30, 2005 for follow-up, she reported her back pain had improved, but she was having more problems with neck pain.
  Dr. Valerius ordered an MRI of the cervical spine, which showed barely perceptible minimal bulging of the C3-C4, C4-C5, C5-C6, and C6-C7 discs, without evidence of significant bulging or protrusion at any of these levels.
  A straightening of the cervical lordosis, possibly reflecting muscle spasm, as well as light right-sided bulging of the T2-T3 discs was also noted.

When next seen by Dr. Valerius on August 10, 2005, the claimant reported her neck and back pain were improved, although she was having problems with her left shoulder.
  On physical examination, Dr Valerius noted generalized tenderness to palpation in the lower back and discomfort at the end of all ranges of motion.
  As to the neck, Dr. Valerius noted trapezius tenderness bilaterally to light touch.
  No other abnormalities on the physical examination of the lower back or neck were noted.
  Dr. Valerius prescribed continued physical therapy and opined the claimant remained unable to lift greater than 10 pounds.

PT Burlingame noted the claimant was progressing slowly in physical therapy.
  He noted the continued reports of headaches, tinnitus, and nausea, as well as lower extremity symptoms.
  The claimant also complained of pain in the neck and low back at 4 over 10.
  She reported she was able to increase her activity levels, and PT Burlingame opined she would be able to do light duty work.
  On September 12, 2005, PT Burlingame noted the claimant’s progress was limited, and she reported continuing cervical pain at 6 to 7 over 10 and lower back pain at 6 over 10.

On September 14, 2005, the claimant saw Dr. Valerius for follow-up,
 reporting continued neck and back pain, as well as headaches.
  Her physical examination was unchanged.
  Dr. Valerius ordered x-rays of the cervical and lumbar spines.
  The cervical spine was normal, and the lumbar spine x-rays showed minimal degenerative changes.

On referral from Dr. Valerius, the claimant was evaluated by physiatrist Francine Pulver, M.D., of the Alaska Spine Institute (ASI) on September 27, 2005.
  The claimant reported her symptoms of neck, lower back and lower extremity pain began after a work related injury in April, 2005, with significant low back and neck pain at that time.
  She also reported in her job she cared for a comatose individual who weighed 130 pounds and required full assistance.
  She asserted on approximately April 4, 2005, she woke up with severe pain, which lasted for two days.
  On the day of the evaluation, the claimant stated her low back pain was aching, and she had cramping sensations in the buttocks and posterior calves, as well as aching in her feet.
  She complained of neck pain and pins and needles sensations in her hands.
  She also complained of headaches, as well as blurred vision and spots in her visual field during severe episodes.
  On physical exam, Dr. Pulver noted tenderness over the cervical paraspinals, trapezius ridge and rhomboids bilaterally.
  She also noted tenderness over the lumbar paraspinals and general muscle tenderness.
  She noted the claimant reported pain with bending.
  Her cervical extension was decreased, and she complained of dizziness.
  Strength and sensation to light touch were intact in the upper and lower extremities, and reflexes were 2+ and symmetrical.
  Dr. Pulver diagnosed the claimant with neck pain, headaches, low back pain with referral to the bilateral lower limbs, tinnitus, and myalgias.
  She referred her for MRI’s of the lumbar spine and brain.
  

Dr. Pulver saw the claimant for follow-up on October 11, 2005.
  Dr.  Pulver noted the MRI of the brain was normal and the MRI of the lumbar spine showed a left L5-S1 disc protrusion with mild compression of the left exiting L5 nerve root.
  The lumbar spine MRI report noted there was minimal left lateral disc protrusion.
  The claimant reported continuing neck and low back pain, with referral to the lower extremities bilaterally.
  Dr. Pulver diagnosed low back pain with referral in to the lower limbs bilaterally, left L5-S1 disc protrusion, chronic neck and shoulder pain, largely myofascial in nature, cervicogenic type headaches, tinnitus, and diffuse myalgias.
  She recommended the claimant not return to her prior job as a CNA, and that she maintain a light duty  job with lifting of 20 pounds occasionally and 10 pounds frequently.
  She opined the claimant should have a vocational rehabilitation evaluation.
  Dr. Pulver ordered rheumatologic laboratory tests to be performed.
  The claimant continued her physical therapy, with intermittent progress, and was given a fair to good prognosis.

On January 17, 2006, the claimant saw Dr. Pulver for follow-up.
  Dr. Pulver noted the claimant’s neck pain had improved, but she continued to complain of back pain and cramping in the lower limbs, and also complained of knee pain.
  Dr. Pulver also noted the claimant’s laboratory studies were consistent with a past Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) infection, and added diffuse myalgias and arthritis to the claimant’s diagnoses.
  Dr. Pulver opined the claimant was approaching medical stability,
 and performed a PPI rating on February 7, 2006, which resulted in a 5% whole person PPI rating.
  The claimant saw Dr. Pulver next on March 21, 2006, at which time she complained of increased pain in her low back, perhaps due to inability to attend physical therapy due to illness.
  Dr. Pulver referred the claimant for chiropractic treatments, two to three times per week for the next four to six weeks.

The claimant received chiropractic treatment from James Martin, D.C., from March 22, 2006 to May 18, 2006, which she reported was helpful.
  Dr. Martin discontinued his care on June 29, 2006, as the claimant had not returned to the clinic after May 2006.
  

On May 22, 2006, the claimant was seen again at the ASI, this time by James Levine, M.D., rather than Dr. Pulver, who was no longer at ASI.
  Dr. Levine opined the claimant’s problems included ongoing axial spine pain with left L5-S1 disc protrusion per a previous MRI, ongoing back pain with referral to the lower extremities bilaterally, and neck pain with myofascial type pain and referral to the upper extremities.  In addition, he opined her problems included cervicogenic headaches, which were stable, a history of tinnitus, and diffuse myalgias and arthritis with a history of EBV antigens.
  He also opined the EBV issues could explain the multiple system and myofascial pain complaints.
  Dr. James indicated much of the claimant’s care by the time of his examination would be palliative.
  He also indicated he was not convinced she would be able to return to her job at the time of injury, and might have to consider retraining.
  Dr. James recommended an MRI, a PPI rating, then recommendations for further care.
  However, the claimant did not see Dr. Levine again.

At the employer’s request, the claimant was evaluated in an employer’s medical evaluation (EME), performed by orthopedic surgeon Steven Schilperoort, M.D., on July 25, 2006.
  Dr. Schilperoort reviewed the claimant’s medical history and conducted a physical examination.
  He concluded the physical examination was essentially normal and that there was no objective evidence to verify an injury was incurred.
  He noted despite the consistently normal physical examinations since her injury, the claimant had complained of symptoms of pain in the range of 5-6 over 10 on the 0-10 pain scale for almost 17 months.
  Dr. Schilperoort also opined all the examinations of the claimant documented physical examination abnormalities that were associated with subjective response of pain or in direct volitional control on the part of the claimant, rather than objective findings.
  

Dr. Schilperoort opined the claimant’s statements of low back pain and neck pain, reportedly associated with the conditions of employment, were without an orthopedic diagnosis.
  He noted all of her imaging studies were normal, or age-appropriate, as were her physical examinations, except for reports of migratory tenderness inconsistently present.
  Specifically, he noted the physical examinations for four months after the injury showed migratory tenderness, non-focal and intermittent, no palpable spasm at any time, full and normal ranges of motion, normal strength, normal sensation, normal deep tendon reflexes, and no abnormality other than age-appropriate, minimally perceptible, degenerative changes in the cervical spine shown in the imaging studies.
  Dr. Schilperoort noted the claimant’s symptoms expanded in scope and magnitude over time, without physiologic basis, and she failed to return to work within an appropriate healing interval.
  For example, Dr. Schilperoort noted on the August 10, 2005 visit with Dr. Valerius, the claimant complained for the first time of left shoulder problems.
  He also indicated that on her September 14, 2005 appointment with Dr. Valerius, the claimant complained for the first time of headaches.
  He noted when the claimant was referred to Dr. Pulver, she complained for the first time of cramping sensation in the buttocks and posterior calf, aching in both feet, cold and tingling sensation in the fingers and toes, pins and needles sensation in the hands, blurred vision and spots in the visual field, and ringing in the ears.
  Based on the above, Dr. Schilperoort opined there was a strong case for malingering on the part of the claimant.

Dr. Schilperoort opined the claimant did not have any pre-existing conditions that were permanently or temporarily aggravated by the work incident.
  He further opined the claimant did not need any additional medical treatment, that she had returned to pre-injury status, and her condition was medically stable without any PPI.
  He indicated the claimant was capable of full regular, unlimited duty work without restriction, so that she did not require an occupational change or vocational rehabilitation.

The claimant was evaluated by Dr. Valerius on August 3, 2007, after receiving no medical care for over a year.
  The physical examination was normal, except range of motion in the neck and back resulted in discomfort at the end of all ranges.
  Dr. Valerius assessed chronic back pain, neck pain and tension headaches.
  The claimant was next seen on August 8, 2007 by John Moore, M.D. at Mat-Su Regional Medical Center, where she sought care after she experienced a sharp pain in her neck after bending over in the kitchen.
  Dr. Moore diagnosed recurrent left neck strain and prescribed Flexeril.
  He instructed the claimant to apply heat, and limit her activities, including no lifting, and referred her back to her primary physician, Dr. Valerius.

The claimant was evaluated in a second independent medical evaluation (SIME) by physiatrist Jennifer James, M.D., on November 1, 2007.
  Dr. James reviewed the claimant’s medical history and conducted a physical examination.
  Dr. James’ impressions were as follows: 1) cervical strain/sprain, myofascial, sustained on April 5, 2005, without permanent sequalae; 2) lumbosacral strain/sprain, reported April 5, 2005, without permanent sequalae, myofascial in origin; 3) age-appropriate degenerative imaging changes for cervical and lumbar spine areas, not considered contributory to any valid symptomatology; 4) iron-deficiency anemia, not associated with the work injury; 5) evidence of previous Epstein-Barr virus mononucleosis, resolved, not associated with the work injury; 6) chronic headache condition, not associated with the work injury; 7) consistently normal physical examination and consistently normal imaging studies since the time of injury; 8) pre-existing hypothyroidism, not related to the work injury; and 9) evidence of disability conviction, etiology unknown.
  She opined the work injury did not aggravate, accelerate or combine with a pre-existing condition to produce the need for medical treatment or the disability, as the claimant did not have any pre-existing physiologic conditions.
  She further opined no additional medical treatment was indicated for any work-related injury.
  Dr. James opined the claimant sustained work injuries of cervical and lumbar strain/sprain that lasted six months, with no permanent impairment.
  She opined the claimant could return to her job at the time of injury.
  She recommended the claimant be weaned off the medicine Flexeril, opining it was not approved to be administered indefinitely, and had side-effects of headaches and muscle weakness.

On September 30, 2008, the claimant was evaluated by Stacey Lowe, D.C.
  Dr. Lowe indicated the claimant underwent a series of physical assessments to determine the state of health of core neurological and spinal functions, the overall results of which were summarized in a single index which quantified neurospinal functions.
  Based on this scheme, the claimant’s neurospinal functional index was assessed to be 77.18, in the “transition range.”
  Dr. Lowe recommended one to three treatments per week for six months, at a cost of $2,640.00.

II.  PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The claimant filed her Report of Occupational Injury or Illness (ROI) on May 26, 2005.  The employer accepted the injury and paid TTD benefits from April 6, 2005 through February 6, 2006.
  On March 17, 2006, the employer paid the employee PPI benefits for the period February 7, 2006 through July 10, 2006, for a total of $8,850.00, equivalent to a 5% PPI dating.
  On July 20, 2006, the employer paid .041(k) benefits for the period from July 11, 2006 through July 25, 2006.  Based on the July 25, 2006 EME report of Dr. Schilperoort, the employer controverted all benefits on August 11, 2006.
  The claimant filed her WCC on May 10, 2007, claiming injury to her back, the back of her legs, shoulders, neck and weakness in her arms, due to constant lifting of the client through the day, bending a lot, and doing physical therapy for the client.
  She requested rehabilitation benefits, permanent partial impairment (PPI), penalty, and a finding of unfair or frivolous controversion.
  

Attorney Krista Schwarting entered her appearance on behalf of the employer on July 5, 2007,
 and filed an Answer to the claimant’s May 9, 2007 WCC, denying the claimant’s requests for PPI benefits, a finding of unfair or frivolous controversion, and a reemployment benefits eligibility evaluation and reemployment benefits.
  The employer filed an additional controversion on July 16, 2007, incorporating by reference the August 11, 2006 controversion, and adding that Dr. Schilperoort was unable to affirm an injury, in the medical sense, having been incurred by the claimant.
  On September 16, 2008, the claimant filed an Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing (ARH),
 which was served on the employer by fax on that same day.
  On October 10, 2008, the employer filed a letter in which it asserted the claimant’s September 16, 2008 ARH had not been served on the employer, and requesting the ARH be deemed inoperative.
  In addition, the employer filed its opposition to the claimant’s ARH on October 29, 2008.
 

A Pre-Hearing Conference was held on October 29, 2008, and the parties agreed to an oral hearing date of January 21, 2009.
  The issues for hearing were the claimant’s May 9, 2007 WCC for medical benefits, penalty, unfair or frivolous controversion, and reemployment benefits.
  On October 29, 2008, the claimant filed the medical reports of Dr. Lowe of Life Family Chiropractic, LLC, of Wasilla, Alaska, consisting of nine pages.
  On December 16, 2008, the employer filed a request for cross-examination of Dr. Lowe, stating it needed to cross-examine the author regarding the opinions expressed in her report, the basis for these opinions, the records in the provider’s possession which were a basis for her opinions, and the provider’s qualifications to express such opinions.

III.  DEPOSITION AND HEARING TESTIMONY

A. Claimant

The claimant’s deposition was taken on September 10, 2007, at which time she testified she worked with the same client for six months while she was employed by the employer.
  She testified her client was in a coma and could not speak, walk or move on her own.
  She testified her work was to get her client out of bed, feed her, bathe her, toilet her, groom and dress her, and give her physical therapy.
  She further testified she worked with the client five days a week, eight hours a day,
 and that the client was the same size as the claimant, that is, about five feet, five inches tall and 130 pounds.

The claimant testified her work injury did not happen in one day, but developed over time as she noticed pain in her legs, then a “tingling, weird” feeling in her arms,
 starting about two weeks before the reported date of injury of April 5, 2005.
  She testified she then noticed she had trouble carrying and lifting her client, as her arms felt tired.
  She testified she thought she was just overworked and tired.
  The claimant further testified one night she woke up about three o’clock in the morning to go to the restroom, when she felt a sharp pain in her back, so that she could not move.
  She testified her husband had to assist her in moving for the next two or three days,
 and she had to stay in bed during that time.
  She testified she first sought medical care at the AIC, where she was given pain medication.
  The claimant testified she was unable to go back to work, so she filed a WCC.
  She also testified she then saw Dr. Valerius, who prescribed physical therapy.
  She testified she had the pain in her legs, neck and arms at the same time she had the back pain.
 

The claimant testified she improved with physical therapy, but not to the point where she could return to work, so Dr. Valerius referred her to Dr. Pulver, who prescribed more physical therapy.
  She further testified when she did not improve with further physical therapy, Dr. Pulver referred her to the chiropractor Dr. Martin.
  She testified she saw Dr. Levine of Alaska Spine Institute once, after Dr. Pulver was no longer there.
  She testified she received four to six weeks of chiropractic treatment, which helped her, before her WCC was controverted,
 and she has seen Dr. Valerius again once, and been to the emergency room once since her WCC was controverted.

Concerning her condition and treatment for her condition at the time of the deposition, the claimant testified her symptoms have worsened, and she continues to have constant neck, back, and leg pain, as well as headaches.
  She further testified she continues to take Tylenol for her symptoms.

In regards to her employment with employer, the claimant testified she was let go from her job in July or August of 2007.
  She testified she has not worked or looked for work since her work injury.
 Regarding her physical abilities at the time of the deposition, the claimant testified she could stand for only ten minutes, walk for 30 minutes, and lift up to 20 pounds.
  She testified although she had tingling in her hands, she did not have problems holding objects like pens or coffee cups.
  She testified she could perform all her activities of daily living, caring for her children and home, but she would not be able to take care of a comatose client again.

Concerning her work history, the claimant testified she worked for J.J. & R. National Car Rental doing the paperwork, renting and detailing cars, and picking people up from the airport and driving them back to the office for a little over a year, sometime in 1994, 1995 or 1996, although she could not remember the exact dates.

At hearing, the claimant testified her back and neck still bother her, so that she is still unable to do as much physically as she was able to before her work injury.  She testified her back hurts all the time and she has spasms in her neck.  She testified she can only stand for a limited period of time. The claimant did testify she is able to and does sport fish.  She testified she did not receive all the treatment she should have received.  She also testified she improved with the physical therapy treatment recommended by Dr. Valerius.  In addition, she testified after the chiropractic treatment recommended by Dr. Pulver she started to feel better.  However, she testified she has not received treatment since the spring of 2006.  The claimant testified the only treatment she receives now is medication when she goes to the emergency room when she has severe pain, and she does do home exercises.  She testified she currently has no way to pay for medical treatment.

The claimant testified she was told in May 2005 by Dr. Valerius that she should not continue to work as a CNA, and Dr. Valerius provided her with a letter to that effect, dated May 19, 2005, to present to anyone who might need this information.  She testified that in January, 2006, Dr. Pulver recommended she get an evaluation for retraining.  She also testified she remembers a workers’compensation officer escorting her to the reemployment office after a July 2007 pre-hearing, and she remembers talking to a woman in the reemployment office about reemployment benefits.  However, she testified she does not remember who that person was or what she was told.  

The claimant testified she has not tried to go back to work since her injury, nor applied for any jobs, as she has three children at home, which keeps her busy.  

IV.  POSITIONS OF THE PARTIES

A. Claimant

The claimant argues she is entitled to ongoing medical benefits as she still has symptoms of neck, back and leg pain and is limited in what she is able to do so that she can no longer work as a CNA.  She asserts she had no prior injuries before her work injury, and she requires more medical treatment to get back on her feet.  The claimant argues the opinions of her treating medical providers Dr. Valerius, Dr. Pulver, and Dr. Martin prove she suffered a work injury which required medical treatment, and further, her own testimony concerning her physical limitations due to the work injury and the medical report provided by Dr. Lowe prove she requires ongoing medical treatment.  She maintained she is entitled to a reemployment eligibility evaluation as she is not able to return to her job at the time of injury and she did not request an eligibility evaluation as she was unsure of her rights and did not receive a workers’ compensation booklet informing her of her benefits and rights.

B. Employer

The employer first argued the medical records of Dr. Lowe should be excluded, as it had filed a request for cross-examination, but the claimant had not arranged for the employer to cross examine Dr. Lowe.  The employer maintained the claimant was not entitled to further medical benefits, as both the EME and SIME physicians opined she did not require any additional medical treatment, and even her treating physicians, Dr. Valerius and Dr. Pulver had not recommended further medical treatment beyond the physical therapy and chiropractic treatment the claimant had received.  The employer asserted the claimant was not entitled to a reemployment eligibility evaluation as she had not timely requested an eligibility evaluation and, in addition, she had not suffered any PPI and was capable of returning to her job at the time of injury.  The employer maintained the claimant was not entitled to a penalty, as no benefits were paid late or without having been controverted.  The employer asserted the claimant was not entitled to a finding of unfair or frivolous controversion, as its two controversions had been supported by the July 25, 2007 EME report of Dr. Schilperoort, which constituted substantial evidence, and were thus filed in good faith.


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I. ADMISSIBILITY OF THE MEDICAL RECORDS OF DR. LOWE AND THE EMPLOYER’S RIGHT TO CROSS EXAMINE DR. LOWE

On October 29, 2008, the claimant filed the September 30, 2008 through October 2, 2008 medical reports of Dr. Lowe of Life Family Chiropractic, LLC of Wasilla, Alaska, consisting of nine pages.  On December 16, 2008, the employer filed a request for cross-examination of Dr. Lowe.  At hearing the employer requested Dr. Lowe’s medical records be excluded from evidence, asserting it had not had an opportunity to cross examine Dr. Lowe, because the claimant had not made Dr. Lowe available.  At hearing, we issued an oral order excluding Dr. Lowe’s medical records until after the employer had an opportunity for cross examination.  Our oral order also provided that the claimant, at her own expense, would have to arrange for the employer’s cross examination of Dr. Lowe.  However, after further deliberation, we determined our oral order was incorrect.  We amend our oral order below.

Our regulation 8 AAC 45.052(c)(2) provides a party served with an ARH must file a request for cross-examination within 10 days of the filing of the ARH in order to cross examine the author of any medical report listed on the medical summaries filed as of the date of service of the ARH.  In addition, 8 AAC 45.052(c)(3)(B) provides after an ARH has been filed, if a party served with an updated medical summary and copies of the medical reports listed on the medical summary wants to cross-examine the author of one of the medical reports, a request for cross-examination must be filed within 10 days after service of the updated medical summary.  In the present case, we find the claimant filed her ARH on September 16, 2008.  Although the employer argued the September 16, 2008 ARH be deemed inoperative due to lack of service, we find the employer had notice of this ARH no later than October 10, 2008, based upon its letter of the same date complaining of the lack of service.  In addition, the employer opposed the claimant’s ARH on October 29, 2008.  Because the record contains proof of service of the ARH on September 16, 2008, in the form of a confirmed fax to the employer’s attorney’s fax number, we find the ARH is valid as of the date of filing.  At the latest, we find in the alternative that the ARH was valid as of October 29, 2008.  Since the claimant filed the medical summary containing Dr. Lowe’s report on October 29, 2008, the last day the employer had to file its request for cross-examination in order to comply with 8 AAC 45.052(c)(3)(B) was November 8, 2008.  We find the employer filed its request for cross-examination on December 16, 2008.  Thus, we conclude the employer’s request for cross-examination was not timely filed and therefore not effective to exclude Dr. Lowe’s medical records based on the employer’s lack of opportunity to cross examine Dr. Lowe.  However, we also find the employer will have an opportunity to cross-examine Dr. Lowe, at its own expense, if it chooses to do so.
II. PRESUMPTION ANALYSIS

At the time of the claimant’s injury, AS 23.30.095(a) provided, in part,:

(a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years form and after the date of injury to the employee.  However, if the condition requiring treatment, apparatus or medicine is a latent one, the two-year period runs from the time the employee has knowledge of the nature of the employee’s disability and its relationship to the employment and after disablement.  It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require….

The injured worker is afforded a presumption that all the benefits she seeks are compensable.
  The Alaska Supreme Court held "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
  AS 23.30.120(a) reads, in part:  "In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter.."  We utilize a three-step analysis when applying the presumption of compensability.
  
The presumption attaches if the employee makes a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the claimed treatment or disability benefit and employment.
  This presumption continues during the course of recovery from the injury and disability.
  Also, a substantial aggravation of an otherwise unrelated condition imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.
  To make a prima facie case, raising the presumption of compensability, the employee must present some evidence that (1) he has an injury and (2) an employment event or exposure could have caused it.  "[I]n claims 'based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection."
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  

At this stage in our analysis we do not weigh the witnesses’ credibility.
  If the presumption is raised and not rebutted, the employee need not produce any further evidence and he prevails solely on the raised but un-rebutted presumption.
  At the second step, once the preliminary link is established, it is the employer's burden to overcome the presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence that the injury was not work related.
  To overcome the presumption of compensability, the employer must present substantial evidence that the injury was not work-related.
  Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to the employer, and not the burden of persuasion, the Board examines the employer’s evidence in isolation.

There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption: (1) produce substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or (2) directly eliminate any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability.
  The Board defers questions of credibility and the weight to give the employer's evidence until after it has decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee's injury entitles him to compensation benefits.
  "Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
  

At the third stage of the presumption analysis, once the employer produces substantial evidence to rebut the presumption, , the presumption of continuing compensability drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of the case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [triers of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true."
  A longstanding principle we must include in our analysis is that inconclusive or doubtful medical testimony must be resolved in the employee's favor.
  
We will apply the above described presumption analysis to the issues in this case, the request for medical benefits and the request for a rehabilitation eligibility evaluation.

II.  MEDICAL BENEFITS

AS 23.30.095(a) provides, in part:

The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance of treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires….

8 AAC 45.082(d) provides in pertinent part:

Unless the employer disputes the prescription charges or transportation expenses, an employer shall reimburse an employee's prescription charges or transportation expenses for medical treatment within 30 days after the employer receives … an itemization of the dates of travel and transportation expenses for each date of travel.”

The presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a) also applies to claims for medical benefits.
  At the first stage of the presumption analysis, based on the testimony of the employee and the medical reports of doctors Valerius and Pulver, we find the record contains sufficient evidence to raise the presumption of compensability for the medical benefits requested by the claimant.

At the second stage of the presumption analysis, the employer argues the EME report of Dr. Schilperoort and the SIME report of Dr. James rebut the presumption of compensability for the employee’s claimed medical benefits.  Dr. Schilperoort opined the claimant did not suffer a work injury and did not need any further medical treatment.  Dr. James opined the claimant had a myofascial cervical strain/sprain and a lumbosacral strain/sprain, myofascial in origin, due to her work injury, both of which lasted six months, with no permanent impairment.  Dr. James also opined the claimant did not require any additional medical treatment.  We find, based on the opinions of Dr. Schilperoort and Dr. James, as expressed in their reports, the employer has rebutted the presumption.

At the third stage of the presumption analysis, we find the claimant has not proven her claim for continuing compensability of medical benefits by a preponderance of the evidence.  To be payable under AS 23.30.095(a), treatment must be reasonable and necessary.  We note the medical records show Dr. Valerius referred the claimant to Dr. Pulver for further treatment recommendations when the claimant did not improve with physical therapy.  We find the claimant treated with Dr. Pulver, who prescribed chiropractic treatment for the claimant, which she received from Dr. Martin, and which she terminated of her own volition, as she did not return for follow-up care after May, 2006.  In addition, we find that on May 22, 2006, Dr. Levine opined any further care would be palliative, and he planned to order a cervical spine MRI, a work hardening program, then a PPI rating.  We find Dr. Levine indicated the EBV issues, which are not work-related, explained the multiple system and myofascial pain complaints of the claimant.  Despite Dr. Levine’s recommendations. we find the claimant did not follow-up with him or follow his recommendations.  A review of the records in this case show the claimant apparently voluntarily discontinued treatment after her May 22, 2006 visit with Dr. Levine.  Based on our review of the medical records of doctors Valerius, Pulver, Martin and Levine, we find that after May 22, 2006, there were no recommendations for further treatment.  We find no evidence in the record to the contrary.  We do not rely on the medical records of Dr. Lowe, as she did not opine the treatment she recommended was related to the work injury.  Based on the opinions of doctors Schilperoort and James, we find that after July 25, 2006, no further medical treatment related to her work injury was reasonable or necessary. Based on our review of the entire record, we find the claimant has failed to prove her claim for continuing medical benefits after July 25, 2006.  We conclude the claimant is not entitled to receive further medical benefits.

III. UNFAIR AND FRIVOLOUS CONTROVERSION

The Alaska Supreme Court’s decision in Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc. (“Harp”),
 is instructive for the instant case.  In Harp, the employer timely controverted the employee’s TTD benefits.  The employee claimed the employer had no valid reason to controvert her claim to TTD benefits and was therefore subject to the penalty imposed under the former AS 23.30.155(e).  The court noted AS 23.30.155 imposes a penalty on an employer who does not pay benefits due an employee without first timely controverting the claim.  The court relied on its prior decision in Stafford v. Westchester Fire Ins. Co of New York,
 and found a controversion notice must be filed in good faith to protect an employer from imposition of a penalty.  In Harp, the employer controverted the employee’s claim for two reasons.  The first was that the employee did not provide ongoing verification of her disability.  The second was that the disability was not work related. The court found where there was no requirement under the statute for the employee to provide ongoing verification of her disability, the controversion had no specific information to support it.   As to the second reason, the court found a statement by a doctor , who had previously found the employee’s injury work-related, to the effect he did not understand what was going on and why the employee had recurrent symptoms, was insufficient evidence to support the controversion.  The court thus found the controversion was not supported by sufficient evidence, was made in bad faith, was invalid, and therefore a penalty was required under AS 23.30.155.

We have applied the Court's reasoning from Harp to our decisions concerning all sections of 
AS 23.30.155, and held that a controversion not made in good faith is frivolous and unfair for purposes of AS 23.30.155(o).
  We consistently require an employer or insurer to have specific, substantial evidence on which to base a controversion. 

In the instant case, we find the employer’s Controversion Notices dated August 11, 2006, and July 16, 2007, were based on the EME report of Dr. Schilperoort, which provided sufficient, substantial evidence that the claimant’s condition at the time of the EME report was not related to her work; and we find the controversion was made in good faith.  Accordingly, we do not find this controversion was frivolous and unfair, under AS 23.30.155(o).

IV.  INTEREST AND PENALTY
A.  Interest
AS 23.30.155 provided, at the time of the claimant’s injury, in pertinent part:

(b) The first installment of compensation becomes due on the 14th day after the employer has knowledge of the injury or death.  On this date all compensation then due shall be paid....

 (p) An employer shall pay interest on compensation that is not paid when due.  Interest required under this subsection accrues at the rate specified in AS 09.30.070(a) that is in effect on the date the compensation is due.

8 AAC 45.142 provided, at the time of the claimant’s injury:

(a) If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in ….AS 09.30.070(a) for an injury that occurred on or after July 1, 2000.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.
In the instant case, the employer had knowledge of the claimant’s injury no later than April 8, 2005, as noted on the ROI.  In addition, the claimant’s treating physician opined on April 13, 2005 that the claimant would not be able to work for at least two weeks.  Therefore, we find the first payment of TTD was due 14 days after April 8, 2005, or on April 22, 2005, which is 14 days after April 8, 2005.  We also find the compensation report show the first payment of TTD was not made until May 17, 2005.  Therefore, we find the claimant is entitled to interest on the late paid TTD benefits from April 8, 2005 through May 16, 2005.  We will order the employer to pay the claimant interest on these late paid TTD benefits.
B. Penalty
AS 23.30.155(e) provided, at the time of the claimant’s injury, in relevant part:

If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it.  This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section or unless the nonpayment is excused by the board after a showing by the employer that owing to conditions over which the employer had no control the installment could not be paid within the period prescribed for the payment. . . .

AS 23.30.155(e) provides a 25 percent penalty on all benefits which are not controverted and which were not timely paid within seven days of when the payment become due.  The compensation report reflects the TTD benefits commenced on April 6, 2005.  Further, we find the ROI reflects the employer was aware the claimant’s injury was work-related on  April 8, 2005.  We find the TTD benefits were due no later than April 22, 2005.  Therefore, we find a penalty is due on any TTD benefits not paid by April 29, 2005.  Thus, we find there is a penalty due the claimant on the late paid TTD benefits from April 8, 2005 through May 16, 2005, under AS 23.30.155(e).  We will order the employer to pay the claimant a penalty on the late paid TTD benefits from May 12, 2005 through May 16, 2005.
V.  ENTITLEMENT TO A REEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS ELIGIBILITY EVALUATION 

At the time of the employee’s injury, AS 23.30.041(c) provided, in pertinent part:  

If an employee suffers a compensable injury that may permanently preclude an employee's return to the employee's occupation at the time of injury, the employee or employer may request an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits.  The employee shall request an eligibility evaluation within 90 days after the employee gives the employer notice of injury unless the administrator determines the employee has an unusual and extenuating circumstance that prevents the employee from making a timely request.  The administrator shall … select a rehabilitation specialist … to perform the eligibility evaluation. 

8 AAC 45.510(b) provides:

The administrator will consider a written request for an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits if the compensability of the injury has not been controverted and if the request is submitted together with 

(1) an explanation of the unusual and extenuating circumstances, as defined in 
8 AAC 45.520, for a request that is made more than 90 days after the date the employee gave the employer notice of injury; and 

(2) a physician’s prediction that the injury may permanently preclude the employee from returning to the job at time of injury.

This employee stands at the initial stage in the reemployment process.  Whether the employee may actually be found eligible for reemployment benefits is not yet at issue.  We have long recognized there is a lower threshold to begin the reemployment process with an eligibility evaluation, than to actually be found eligible for reemployment benefits.
 

AS 23.30.041(c) requires the following: 1) a compensable injury, 2) a possibility that the injury may permanently preclude the employee from returning to his occupation at the time of injury, 
3) a request by the employee for an eligibility evaluation within 90 days after the employee gives the employer notice of the injury, and 4) if notice is not given within 90 days, a determination by the RBA that the employee had an unusual and extenuating circumstance that prevented the employee from making a timely request.  If the criteria of AS 23.30.041(c) are met, the statute requires the RBA to refer the employee for an evaluation.  8 AAC 45.510 provides additional guidance to the RBA when considering an employee’s written request for an eligibility evaluation.  Pursuant to 8 AAC 45.510(b), the RBA considers a request for an eligibility evaluation only if the compensability of the injury has not been controverted, and the request is submitted with an explanation of unusual and extenuating circumstances, if needed, and a physician’s prediction that the injury may permanently preclude the employee from returning to his job at the time of injury.  

In the instant case, we find the claimant raises the presumption she is entitled to reemployment benefits as she meets the first two criteria for an eligibility evaluation.  That is, she suffered a compensable injury, and Dr. Valerius predicted on May 19, 2005, that she might have physical capacities less than necessary to be able to return to her job at the time of injury.  In addition, Dr. Pulver also opined on October 11, 2005 and January 17, 2006, that the claimant would not be able to return to her prior job as a CNA.  

At the second stage of the presumption analysis, we find the employer has rebutted the presumption.  Specifically, we find the claimant failed to request an eligibility evaluation within 90 days of learning the extent of her disability and being informed that she may not be able to return to work at her usual and customary occupation.  Further, we find the claimant received information advising her of the process and procedure she should have followed to timely request an eligibility evaluation.

At the third stage of the presumption analysis, we find the claimant is unable to prove by a preponderance of the evidence she is entitled to a reemployment eligibility evaluation.  The claimant did not provide proof of having requested an eligibility evaluation within 90 days of giving notice of her injury to the employer.  In addition, the claimant acknowledged the workers’ compensation officer escorted her to the reemployment benefit office, where she discussed reemployment benefits with one of the workers there.  Even after this discussion, the claimant admits she did not request a reemployment benefits eligibility evaluation.  We conclude the claimant is not entitled to an eligibility evaluation.  We will deny and dismiss her claim for a reemployment benefit eligibility evaluation.


ORDERS
1. If the employer wishes to cross examine Dr. Lowe, it shall contact the Workers’ Compensation Officer to set a prehearing to arrange for the cross examination of Dr. Lowe, at the employer’s expense. 

2. Once the employer has had an opportunity to cross examine Dr. Lowe, if it desires to do so, the employer shall request modification of this Decision and Order based on any new evidence discovered during the cross examination. 

3. The claimant’s request for further medical benefits is denied and dismissed.

4. The claimant’s request for a finding of unfair and frivolous controversion is denied and dismissed.

5. The employer shall pay interest pursuant to AS 23.30.155(b), AS 23.30.155(p) and 
8 AAC 45.142 on the late paid TTD benefits.

6. The employer shall pay a penalty on the late paid TTD benefits pursuant to AS 23.30.155(b) and AS 23.30.155(e).
7. The claimant’s request for a reemployment benefits eligibility evaluation is denied and dismissed.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on March 2, 2009.
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If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court. 

If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.
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RECONSIDERATION
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MODIFICATION
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